**BRIEF OF APPELLANT\***

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals  
[In The Supreme Court]

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2016-CP-23-02113  
Appellate Case No. 2017-001147

Aminah A. Richburg,

Appellant,

v.

E.A. "Rico" Williams, Director,  
District One S.C. Basketball Officials  
Association, and the South Carolina  
High School League,

Respondent,

**RECEIVED**  
JUL 02 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Aminah A. Richburg, Pro Se  
217 Plum Creek Lane  
Greenville, South Carolina 29607  
(864) 419-6707

Vordman Carlisle Traywick III  
Post Office Box 11449

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Court fail to recognize all motions to be heard on March 20, 2017 and proceeded on Motions favorable to the Respondents? (Rp.lines 15-20) , (Rp. 247 lines 8-18), (Rpp.90-163).
2. Did the Court fail to allow the Appellate to communicate to the court her motions to Dismiss Summary Judgement? (Rp. 255, line 25), (Rp. 256 lines 1-25), (Rp. 257 lines 1-25), (Rpp. 164-166).
3. Did the Court proceed fairly and justly towards the Appellate during the Hearing on March 20, 2017? (Rp. 250 lines 12-14), (Rp. 244 lines 6-25), Rp. 257 lines 1-25).
4. Did the Respondent Mr. E.A. "Rico" Williams purposefully create and communicate a false narrative to Respondent Mr. Skip Lax, Respondent Mr. Joedy Moots, Respondent Mr. Jerome Singleton and other Respondent South Carolina High School League Members, with misguided factual information for the 2015-2015 Basketball season pertaining to the Appellate performance as a basketball official, "From our records you are marked off by two schools" and failed to communicate the schools only represented the school the Appellate graduated from and the school that is located in the geographical location close to her home, the same standard required block that supposedly restricts all basketball officials from officiating at the schools due to their personal association with the schools? (Rp. 473), (Rp. 335), (Rp. 463), (Rp.81), (Rp.322), (Rpp.330-332), (Rpp. 176-183).

5. Did the Respondent Mr. E.A. "Rico" Williams fabricate a listing of ten basketball officials for the 2015-2016 basketball season that were assigned official paid basketball games with the Appellate during the 2015-2016 basketball season and blocked the Appellate during the 2015-2016 basketball season and communicated inaccurate statements to Respondent Mr, Skip Lax, Respondent Mr, Joedy Moots, Respondent Mr. Jerome Singleton and other Respondent South Carolina High School League Members? (Rp. 81), (Rp. 678), (Rp. 802), (Rpp. 299-300), (Rp. 303), Rpp. 319-323)
6. Did the Respondent Mr. E.A. "Rico" Williams knowingly create a false narrative communicating that ten basketball officials during the 2015-2016 basketball season that worked official paid basketball games with the Appellate communicated to the Respondent Mr. E.A. "Rico" Williams that the Appellate is unwilling to accept constructive criticism, advice, instruction, or any information given by them that the Appellate may deem unnecessary during the 2015-2016 Basketball season? (Rp. 473), (Rp. 802), (Rpp.322-334),(Rpp. 81-82), (Rp. 174)
7. Did the Respondent Mr. E.A. "Rico" Williams communicate that all District one basketball officials that officiate other sports would be required to attend four meetings and unfairly terminated the Appellate with different meeting attendance

standards than her fellow officials? (Rp. 433), (Rpp. 263 lines 13-21), (Rp. 776), (Rpp. 797-801).

8. Did the Respondent Mr. E.A. "Rico" Williams present District One Basketball Officials meeting attendance sign in sheets of all district one members for all meetings, communicating the arrival and departure time for members? (Rpp. 49-50), (Rp. 779), (Rp. 263 lines 13-21), (Rp. 79) (Rp. 433), (Rpp. 797-801)
9. Did the Respondent Mr. E.A. "Rico" Williams create a chart portraying falsified information depicting false arrival times for the Appellate and selected basketball officials for required South Carolina Basketball Officials District One meetings for the 2015-2016 year? (Rp. 779)
10. Did the Respondent Mr. E.A. "Rico" Williams communicate to the Appellate that the decision to terminate her membership resulted from her communications to the District Director, Rico Williams (Respondent), Mr. Joedy Moots (Respondent, Basketball Officials Association's Representative and South Carolina High School League's Executive Committee Member), along with the Appellate discontent and dissatisfaction with present and future leadership direction as well as the Appellate denunciation of Mr. Moots? (Rp. 309)
11. Did the Respondent Rico Williams persuade the District One Board of Directors to discontinue the paid membership of the Appellate with SCBOA District One for the future? (Rp. 309)

12. Did the Respondent Mr. E.A. "Rico" Williams create/concoct a false, unjustified, unprofessional and sexist narrative based on hearsay pertaining to the pants worn by the Appellate in a basketball game on February 2, 2016 and present his false accusations to Respondent Skip Lax, Respondent Joedy Moots the South Carolina Basketball Officials Association District One Board Members to discontinue the paid membership of the Appellate with SCBOA District One? (Rp. 473), Rp. 583 lines 1-25), (Rp. 586 lines 22-25), (Rp. 587 lines 1-25), (Rp. 588 lines 1-6), (Rp.310).
13. Did the Respondent Mr. E.A. "Rico" Williams generate false narratives in response to a text message sent by the Appellate to Mr. E.A. "Rico" Williams after a brief conversation with the Appellate in an act of malice to protect his business and the business of several SCBOA District One Board members of assigning basketball officials for nonofficial basketball games in the Upstate of South Carolina which violates the South Carolina Basketball Officials Association basketball contract? (Rp. 473), (Rp. 769), (Rp. 771)
14. Did the Respondent Mr. E.A. "Rico" Williams letter of termination communicated to the Appellate reflect the grounds for discipline or dismissal of a South Carolina Basketball officials paid membership according to the By-Laws and Constitution of the South Carolina Basketball Official's Association for the 2015-2016 basketball season. (Rpp. 365-380)

15. Was the Respondent Mr. Skip Lax, Assistant Commissioner of the South Carolina High School League negligent in his paid professional athletic administrative leadership position in the State of South Carolina, to properly investigate the allegations made by the Respondent Mr. E.A. "Rico" Williams against the Appellate Aminah A. Richburg according to the laws governing his organization as a Non-Profit Institution in the State of South Carolina as well as the Constitution and By-Laws of the South Carolina Basketball Officials Association and the South Carolina High School League? (Rp. 364), (Rp. 369), (Rp. 446), (Rpp. 365-380), Rpp. 447-462)
16. Did Respondent Skip Lax's failure to intervene in the matters of the Appellate Aminah A. Richburg with Respondent E.A. "Rico" Williams according to the SCBOA By-Laws and Constitution allow the Respondent E.A. Rico Williams to continue his unethical behavior towards the Appellate and thereby proceed with the termination of the Appellate membership as a South Carolina District One Basketball official? (Rpp. 687-689), (Rpp. 365-380).
17. Did Respondent Mr. Joedy Moots, the South Carolina Basketball Officials Representative, fail to properly investigate the pleas communicated by the Appellate as her representative according to the Constitution and Bylaws, enable and justify the unethical behaviors and decisions of the Respondent E.A. Rico Williams and the eventual termination of the Appellate paid membership with the

South Carolina Basketball Officials Association District One? (Rpp. 360-363), (Rpp.365-380).

18. Did Respondent Mr. Joedy Moots, the Basketball Officials Representative for the South Carolina Basketball Officials Association 2015-2016, commit defamation and act in an unethical way when he shared all confidential information to Respondent Rico Williams shared with him in confidence by the Appellate on her behalf seeking assistance from the Respondent Mr. Joedy Moots in the matter? (Rpp. 360-363), (Rp. 310).

19. Did the Respondent Mr. Jerome Singleton, Commissioner of the South Carolina High School League failure to properly investigate the actions and proceedings of the Respondent E.A. Rico Williams which lead to the Appellate termination of future membership of the South Carolina Basketball Officials Association District One? (Rpp. 687-689).

20. Did the Respondent E.A. "Rico" Williams abuse his leadership and power and manipulate the Respondents South Carolina High School League to support his position due to past and present relationships the Respondent has with Respondent Mr. Joedy Moots, Respondent Mr. Skip Lax and Respondent Mr. Jerome Singleton and use that support to bring defamation to the Appellate? (Rpp. 687-689).

21. Did the Respondent E.A. "Rico" Williams and Respondent Joedy Moots heinous behavior toward the Appellate manipulate the District One Board of Directors by sharing selective confidential information shared between the Appellate and the Respondent Joedy Moots to support the termination of the Appellate? (Rp. 774)
22. Did the Respondent E.A. "Rico" Williams communicate factual truths pertaining to the Appellate position with local and state leadership? (Rp. 473)
23. Did the SCBOA District One Board Members terminate the membership of the Appellate due to the working relationship they have with the Respondent with his business of assigning officials for non-official basketball games. (Rp. 243 lines 1-4), (Rp. 242 line 25), (Rp. 40), (Rp.465), (Rp. 434), (Rpp. 57-59), (Rp. 253 lines 24-25), (Rp. 254 lines 1-14), (Rpp. 40-41),(Rpp. 80-82).
24. Did the actions of all Respondents expose the Appellate to defamation, and public ridicule which caused her to be shunned and avoided (Recent rejection to officiate with the YBOA organization)? (Rpp. 311-316)
25. As a direct and proximate result of the Respondents(s) recklessness, willfulness and wantonness, does the Appellate continue to suffer damages from embarrassment; humiliation; mental suffering; lost earnings; loss of consortium; and cost of retaining an attorney to defend her from the false allegations made by

the Respondent(s) due to her inability for future membership expressed by the Respondents? (Rp. 778), (Rp. 316), (Rpp. 390-414)

26. Did the Respondents marginal and unprofessional behavior and actions toward the Appellate with malice, recklessness and intentional disregard of the Appellate rights, entitle the Appellate to a judgement against the Respondent(s), jointly and severally for actual damages; punitive damages, special damages? (Rp. 776), (Rp. 316), (Rpp. 390-414).
27. Did the Respondents(s) communicate to the Appellate that if there is any intent of the Plaintiff to apply for future membership in District One, the Plaintiff's application will not be accepted? (Rp. 778)
28. Did the Respondents commit discovery abuse by failing to provide all interrogatory documentation requested by the Appellate? (Rp. 253 lines 24-25), (Rp. 254 lines 1-14).
29. Did the Respondents commit perjury under oath by communicating they provided all interrogatory documentation requested by the Appellate? (Rp. 253 lines 24-25), (Rp. 254 lines 1-14).
30. Did the Respondents commit perjury under oath by communicating that the South Carolina High School League is a governmental entity, subject to the Tort Claims Act 15-78-60? (Rp. 272 lines 9-25)

31. Did the Respondents commit perjury under oath by communicating that the Respondents, the South Carolina High School League, are not liable for a loss resulting from the exercise of discretion or judgment by the governmental entity or employee, or the performance, or failure to perform any act or service which is in the discretion or judgment of the employee, governmental entity or employee. (Rp. 272 lines 9-25).
32. Should the Appellate receive judgement for loss of wages due to her inability to apply for membership with the SCBOA District One and officiate paid basketball games in the future expressed by the Respondents calculated for the next twenty five years based on years of peer officials in SCBOA District One calculated for the next twenty-five years averaged at three thousand dollars a year for the next twenty- five years? (Rp. 309), (Rpp. 40-41)
33. Should the Appellate receive judgement for loss of wages for Basketball tournaments assignment fee at four hundred dollars per tournament for eleven tournaments a year for the next twenty- five due to defamatory statements to a third party by the Respondents to (YBOA)? (Rpp. 311-317), (Rpp. 390-414)
34. Should the Appellate receive judgment for harassment pain and suffering at one hundred thousand dollars along with loss of fees due to the Respondents actions

after February 6, 2016? (Rp. 473), (Rp. 309), (Rp. 364), (Rpp. 360-363), (Rp. 310), (Rpp. 687-689).

### **Procedural History**

On March 31, 2016, the Appellate filed a complaint In the Court of Common Pleas, State of South Carolina, County of Greenville. (Rpp. 17-20)

The Appellate submitted A First Set of Request for Production to Defendant and First Set of Continuing Interrogatories to Defendants on June 20, 2016 and both Michael Montgomery and Sarah Day Hurley failed to respond to the Pro-Se Plaintiff within a thirty day period. (Rpp. 36-38), (Rpp. 42-44)

The Appellate filed a request for a hearing on August 1, 2016 (Rp. 85)

On September 16, 2016, the Appellate filed Request/Motion for Court of Common Pleas to Dissolve Terminate, Cancel Defendants Motion for Protective Order and Stipulation For Protective Order and Order Thereon. The Motion was not recognized by the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas. (Rpp. 87-89).

The matter came before the court on September 20, 2016, upon the Appellate Request for Hearing filed August 1, 2016. The Appellate was present and proceeded pro se. The Respondent South Carolina High School League was represented by Michael Montgomery, Esq., and the Respondent E.A. "Rico" Williams was represented by Sarah Day Hurley, Esq. The Appellate communicated her concerns that many documents were not produced by the Respondents

through the extension granted from the time between the filing of the Motion and the date of the Hearing. (Rp. 846 lines 1-25), (Rp. 847 lines 1-25), (Rp. 848 lines 1-25), (Rp. 849 lines 1-25), (Rp. 837 lines 4-25), (Rp. 838 lines 2-14), (Rp. 839 lines 11-25), (Rp. 840 lines 1-25), (Rp. 841 lines 1-25), (Rp. 843 lines 1-25), (Rp. 844 lines 1-25), (Rp. 845 lines 1-25), (Rpp. 45-54), Rpp. 65-69), (Rpp. 75-83), (Rpp. 70-74).

On October 11, 2016 the Appellate requested a hearing date be set to address a notice submitted along with a motion to compel discovery to acquire the information and documents requested according to definitions on June 20, 2016 through Appellate Aminah A. Richburg First Set of Continuing Interrogatories and First Set of Request for Production to the Respondents. (Rpp. 90-111).

On October 21, 2016 the Appellate requested a Second Set of Continuing Interrogatories to Respondents. (Rpp. 39-41)

On November 2, 2016 the Appellate was present before the Honorable Leitia Verdin Presiding Judge of the Greenville County Common Pleas. The Motion to Compel requested on October 11, 2016 was not addressed. The Presiding Judge allowed the Protection Order based on falsified documentation provided by the Respondents. (Rp. 804 lines 1-25), (Rp. 810 lines 1-25), (Rp. 811 lines 1-25), (Rp. 813 lines 3-16), (Rp. 814 lines 16-21), (Rp. 815 lines 13-25), (Rp. 817 lines 20-25), (Rp. 818 lines 1-25), (Rp. 819 lines 1-25), (Rp. 820 lines 20-25), (Rp. 821 lines 1-25), (Rp. 823 lines 12-17).

On November 21, 2016 the Appellate received minimal discovery information and documentation from the Second Set of Interrogatories and documentation from the Respondents the South Carolina High School League. The Appellate has not received any Second

Interrogatories information nor documentation from the Respondent E.A. Rico Williams. (Rpp. 36-38), (Rpp. 39-41), (Rp. 254 lines 6-14), (Rpp. 55-64), (Rp. 84)

On December 12, 2016 the Appellate filed a Request/Motion For Court of Common Pleas to Reverse Order For Protective Order including a hearing request to address Notice of Motion to Compel for 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> Set of Interrogatories to Defendant. The Motion was not recognized by the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas. (Rpp. 112-117)

On December 20, 2016, the Appellate filed a Request/Motion For Court of Common Pleas to Reverse Order for Protective Order Including a Hearing Request to Address Notice of Motion to Compel for 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> Set of Continuing Interrogatories to Respondents. The Motion was not recognized by the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas. (Rpp. 122-117)

On January 13, 2017, the Appellate filed a Second Notice of Motion to Compel for discovery information for the 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> Interrogatories and Request for a Hearing. The Motion was not recognized by the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas. (Rpp. 118-153)

On January 18, 2017, the Appellate filed a Memorandum in Support of Motion to dismiss Protective Order, Reversal of Court Protection Order. The Motion was not recognized by the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas. (Rpp. 154-163)

On March 6, 2017, the Appellate filed, Challenge the Reliability and Validity of Affidavit of Defendant Skip Lax and E.A. Rico Williams. The Challenge was not recognized by the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas. (Rpp. 164-187)

On March 6, 2017, the Appellate filed, Notice to Dismiss Motion and Also Dismiss For Summary Judgement by Defendant Skip Lax and E.A. Rico Williams. The Motion was not recognized by the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas. (Rpp. 188-207)

On March 9, 2017, the Appellate was present before Judge Gravely for a "Status Conference Roster", during the meeting, the Honorable Judge Gravely presided with the Appellate (Pro Se) and legal representatives of the Respondents, the Appellate communicated that she had filed several Motions to Compel because the Respondents were not cooperative by providing factual data and information during the discovery process and therefore the discovery process had not been concluded. The Respondent communicated that mediation was necessary as well. The Honorable Judge Gravely appointed a mediator and encouraged the Respondents to provide discovery information and set the court date for August 7, 2017. (Rpp. 381)

The matter came before the court on March 20, 2017, upon the Appellate request for a Motion to Compel and Motion to Dismiss Summary Judgment. The Honorable Judge Gravely listened to arguments for summary judgment from the respondents and asked the Appellate to give specificity to the documents that should be produced based on her Motion to Compel. The Appellate asked if the Judge had a copy of her motion and the Appellate proceeded to communicate that she did not receive any documentation for the Second Interrogatories requested on October 21, 2017 from the Respondent E.A. "Rico" Williams and she received minimal documentation from the Respondent SCHSL for the Second Interrogatories. The Appellate communicated that on all 1<sup>st</sup> and 2<sup>nd</sup> Interrogatories requested the Respondents would

communicate that the SCHSL would not have access to documentation and they would refer to the Respondent E.A. Rico Williams for documentation and the Respondent E.A. Rico Williams would communicate that they do not have access to documentation and they would refer to the SCHSL to provide documentation. The Appellate communicated the number for each interrogatory where she received minimal or no information at all. The Appellate was not given an opportunity to present her case pertaining to her motion to Dismiss Summary Judgment. (Rp. 247 lines 16-18), (Rp. 247 lines 1-14), (Rp. 245 lines 1-25), (Rp. 246 lines 1-10), (Rp. 242 lines 15-25), (Rp. 846 lines 1-25), (Rp. 243 lines 1-14), (Rp. 846 lines 1-25), (Rp. 846 lines 1-25), (Rp. 846 lines 1-25), (Rpp. 50-53), (Rpp. 81-82), (Rp. 242 lines 14-25), (Rp. 243 lines 1-14)

On April 24, 2017, the Appellate filed, Request for Admission, Brief in Upholding the Plaintiff's Motion To Compel and Opposition to Defendants Motion for Summary Judgement, Notice to Dismiss Motion and Also Dismiss for Summary Judgement By Respondents South Carolina High School League and Rico Williams. The Appellate received Judge Gravely's order in the mail later in the evening after she filed all documentations. The Judge communicated that he would ask the Appellate for additional information so he could review all of the information. The Appellate never received any communication from Judge Gravely requesting additional information and the Order submitted by Judge Gravely only reflects communications, explanations and documentations presented by the Respondents in his judgements. Judge Gravely failed to read and consider any documentation presented by the Appellate or consider her previous Motion to Compel and Motion to Dismiss Summary Judgment based on the unprofessional behavior of the Respondents engaging in discovery abuse and obstruction of justice with public information that would allow the Appellate to meet her burden of Proof with

respect to her Motion to Compel and Motion to Dismiss Summary Judgment. (Rpp. 208-209), (Rpp. 211-225), (Rpp. 226-241), (Rp. 240), (Rp. 297 lines 1-24), (Rpp. 1-16), (Rpp. 90-110), (Rp. 255 lines 10-14), (Rp. 250 line 6), (Rp. 243 lines 18-19), (Rp. 15-16).

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