THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-001147
Case No. 2016-CP-23-02113

Aminah A. Richburg, Appellant,

v.

E.A. "Rico" Williams, Director, District One S.C. Basketball Officials Association, and the
South Carolina High School League, Respondents.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
SOUTH CAROLINA HIGH SCHOOL LEAGUE**

Aminah A. Richburg
arichbur@greenville.k12.sc.us
217 Plum Creek Lane
Greenville, South Carolina 29607
(864) 419-6707

Pro Se for Appellant Aminah A. Richburg

TURNER PADGET GRAHAM
& LANEY, P.A.

Sarah Day Hurley
SC Bar No. 16241
shurley@turnerpadget.com

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

ARGUMENT

I. APPELLANT FAILED TO PRESERVE AT LEAST TWENTY-THREE ISSUES FOR APPELLATE REVIEW.

As a preliminary matter, the Court should decline to address Issues 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 8, 9, 14, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, and 34 raised in Appellant's brief because they are not preserved for appellate review. See App. Br. at 4–13.

"It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the [circuit court] to be preserved for appellate review." Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). Under our preservation rules, a "losing party must first try to convince the lower court it has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred." I'On, LLC v. Town of Mount Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). "This principle underlies the long-established preservation requirement that the losing party generally must both present his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling before an appellate court will review those issues and arguments." Id.

"Although a Rule 59(e)[, SCRC], motion may effectively seek a reconsideration of issues and arguments, this type of motion is often required for issue preservation purposes." Home Med. Sys., Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue, 382 S.C. 556, 562, 677 S.E.2d 582, 586 (2009). Indeed, our supreme court has long recognized that "[a]n appellate court may not . . . reverse for any reason appearing in the record." I'On, LLC, 338 S.C. at 421–22, 526 S.E.2d at 724. "Put simply, Rule 59(e) motions serve a vital purpose for proper issue preservation." Home Med. Sys., Inc., 382

S.C. at 562, 677 S.E.2d at 586. Thus, when a “losing party has raised an issue in the lower court, but the court fails to rule upon it, the party must file a motion to alter or amend the judgment . . . to preserve the issue for appellate review.” I’On, LLC, 338 S.C. at 422, 526 S.E.2d at 724 (emphasis added). “Without an initial ruling by the [circuit] court, a reviewing court simply would not be able to evaluate whether the [circuit] court committed error.” S.C. Dep’t of Transp. v. M&T Enters. of Mount Pleasant, LLC, 379 S.C. 645, 658–59, 667 S.E.2d 7, 15 (Ct. App. 2008).

Appellant seeks to raise twenty-three factual issues on appeal that were either not ruled upon or never brought to the attention of the circuit court. Cf. Holmes, 379 S.C. at 473, 666 S.E.2d at 264 (stating that “[a] court considering summary judgment neither makes factual determinations nor considers the merits of competing testimony” (quoting David, 367 S.C. at 250, 626 S.E.2d at 5)); Home Med. Sys., Inc., 382 S.C. at 562, 677 S.E.2d at 586 (asserting that a Rule 59(e) motion “is often required for issue preservation purposes”). Indeed, Appellant even seeks new relief on appeal, asking this Court, for example, to decide whether her position as a District One basketball official was properly terminated. See App. Br. at 7. Appellant also asks the Court to find Respondents guilty of discovery abuse and perjury, enter a verdict in her favor, and find she is entitled to all claimed damages. See id. at 10–13.

A review of the circuit court’s order reveals the court never ruled upon Issues 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 8, 9, 14, 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, and 34 raised in Appellant’s brief. Compare id. at 4–13, with (R. pp. 1–16). Furthermore, Appellant never filed a Rule 59(e) motion to alter or amend judgment. Although Appellant filed three separate documents five days after the circuit court entered its order granting summary judgment, she admitted these were filed with the court prior to her receipt of the order. See App. Br. at 17. Because the circuit court never ruled upon the twenty-three issues mentioned above, and Appellant failed to file a motion to alter or

amend judgment, these issues are not preserved for appellate review and the Court should decline to address them. See Wilke, 330 S.C. at 76, 497 S.E.2d at 733; I'On, LLC, 338 S.C. at 422, 526 S.E.2d at 724; Home Med. Sys., Inc., 382 S.C. at 562, 677 S.E.2d at 586.

II. THE ISSUES RAISED IN APPELLANT'S BRIEF REGARDING THE MOTION TO COMPEL AND MOTION TO DISMISS SUMMARY JUDGMENT ARE ABANDONED ON APPEAL.

The Court should decline to address Appellant's arguments regarding the motion to compel and her "motion to dismiss summary judgment" because these issues are abandoned on appeal.

Our appellate courts have repeatedly held that "[a]n issue is deemed abandoned if the argument in the brief is not supported by authority or is only conclusory." Jones v. Builders Inv. Grp., LLC, 415 S.C. 321, 331, 781 S.E.2d 737, 742-43 (Ct. App. 2015) (quoting Potter v. Spartanburg Sch. Dist. 7, 395 S.C. 17, 24, 716 S.E.2d 123, 127 (Ct. App. 2011)); see also Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co., 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct. App. 2001) ("South Carolina law clearly states that short, conclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned on appeal and[,] therefore[,] not presented for review.").

As to the motion to compel, Appellant made the following argument in her brief:

At the hearing held on March 20, 2017 the Appellate communicated that she was entitled to additional documents that had not been produced by the Respondents. The Appellate identified all documentation needed with specificity.^[2] The Appellate made attempts to communicate to the Honorable Judge Gravely that the Respondents are guilty of discovery abuse.

The Honorable Judge Gravely is mistaken that the Respondents provided evidence that they had fully responded to the Appellate discovery request. The Respondents have never complied and the Appellate has four or more Motions to Compel requesting documentation since August 1, 2016. The Appellate finally got an opportunity to have a ruling on the matter and the Honorable Judge Gravely erroneously ruled that the Appellate did not meet her burden of proof with respect to her Motion to Compel and all

² A review of the hearing transcript, however, reflects just the opposite. (See Supp. R. pp. 4-18).

motions are moot in light of the court's ruling on the Respondents Motion for Summary Judgment.

App. Br. at 44–45. Appellant's inaccurate recitation of the procedural history of her motion to compel is insufficient to raise this issue for the Court's review. Appellant failed to even identify which documents allegedly were not provided. (See Supp. R. pp. 4–18). Given that Appellant's argument in her brief is merely a short, conclusory statement made without citation to any supporting authority, the Court should find she abandoned it on appeal. See Jones, 415 S.C. at 331, 781 S.E.2d at 742–43 (quoting Potter, 395 S.C. at 24, 716 S.E.2d at 127).

Turning to the “motion to dismiss summary judgment” issue, Appellant made the following argument in her brief:

At the hearing held on March 20, 2017 the Appellate communicated that she filed a motion to dismiss the summary judgment. The Appellate was not given an opportunity to present evidence to the Honorable Judge Gravely to plead her case to dismiss summary judgment against the Respondents.

App. Br. at 45. This short, conclusory statement was accompanied with no citations to authority. See Glasscock, Inc., 348 S.C. at 81, 557 S.E.2d at 691. Indeed, a “motion to dismiss summary judgment” is not a recognized procedural tool under the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. Appellant's only option in this regard was to file a response in opposition to Respondents' motions for summary judgment. See generally City of Columbia v. Assaad Faltas, 420 S.C. 28, 45, 800 S.E.2d 782, 790 (2017) (asserting that pro se litigants do not have a license to ignore “relevant rules of procedural and substantive law” (quoting Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 834 (1975))). Contrary to her assertions, the hearing transcript demonstrates Appellant was given an opportunity to rebut Respondents' arguments on summary judgment. (See Supp. R. pp. 1–61). In any event, her argument regarding the motion to dismiss summary judgment is abandoned on appeal and the Court should decline to address it.

Based upon the foregoing, the Court should find Appellant’s motion to compel and “motion to dismiss summary judgment” arguments abandoned on appeal because Appellant failed to present these arguments in a sufficient manner for appellate review. Even on the merits, the circuit court properly denied these frivolous motions for the reasons set forth in Parts III, IV, and V, infra.

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE LEAGUE WHEN IT MADE NO DEFAMATORY COMMUNICATIONS, AND THE COMMUNICATIONS AT ISSUE WERE TRUE AND PROTECTED BY A QUALIFIED PRIVILEGE.

The circuit court properly granted summary judgment in favor of the League on Appellant’s defamation claim because (1) the League made no defamatory statements, (2) the communications regarding Appellant were true, and (3) the communications were protected by a qualified privilege.

“A party asserting a claim of defamation must prove the following elements: ‘(1) a false and defamatory statement was made; (2) the unprivileged publication of the statement to a third party; (3) the publisher was at fault; and (4) either the statement was actionable irrespective of harm or the publication of the statement caused special harm.’” Harris v. Tietex Int’l Ltd., 417 S.C. 533, 540, 790 S.E.2d 411, 415 (Ct. App. 2016) (quoting Williams v. Lancaster Cty. Sch. Dist., 369 S.C. 293, 302–03, 631 S.E.2d 286, 292 (Ct. App. 2006)). “The publication of a statement is defamatory if it tends to harm the reputation of another as to lower [her] in the estimation of the community or deter third persons from associating or dealing with [her].” Fleming, 350 S.C. at 494, 567 S.E.2d at 860.

“Defamatory communications take two forms: libel and slander.” Holtzscheiter v. Thomson Newspapers, Inc., 332 S.C. 502, 517, 506 S.E.2d 497, 506 (1998) (Toal, J., concurring). “Slander is a spoken defamation[,] while libel is a written defamation or one accomplished by actions or conduct.” Swinton Creek Nursery v. Edisto Farm Credit, ACA, 334 S.C. 469, 484, 514

S.E.2d 126, 134 (1999). Because the communication at issue in this case is an email, the League will assume that Appellant's action is one for libel. See id. As explained in greater detail below, Appellant's defamation claim fails as a matter of law.

A. The League Made No Defamatory Communications.

First, Appellant failed to prove that the League made any defamatory communications about her.

At the heart of a defamation claim is the requirement that the defendant actually make a defamatory communication about the plaintiff and publish it to a third party. See Swinton Creek Nursery, 334 S.C. at 484, 514 S.E.2d at 133 (asserting that “[t]he tort of defamation allows a plaintiff to recovery for injury to his or her reputation as the result of the defendant’s communication to others of a false message about the plaintiff”).

In this case, Williams sent the February 5th email—the alleged defamatory communication at issue in this case—to members of the District One Board of Directors and the League’s Commissioner of Officials, Skip Lax. (Supp. R. p. 115). Although Lax received the email, Appellant introduced no evidence that he responded to the email from Williams or forwarded it along to anyone else. (Cf. Supp. R. p. 123). Indeed, Appellant forwarded the February 5th email to Lax along with a lengthy message expressing her displeasure with Williams and his email. (Supp. R. p. 122). Appellant, however, did not ask Lax to intervene, nor did she request that he take any particular action. (Supp. R. p. 96). Instead, Appellant requested the names of the officials referenced in the February 5th email who blocked her. Id. Lax responded to Appellant’s email by stating, “Aminah, we do not share with any officials blocks by schools or their peers. Your concerns are a local matter to be handled at the district level.” (Supp. R. p. 97). Thus, Appellant failed to demonstrate Lax made or published any defamatory communications about her.

Appellant likewise complains about her communications with Joedy Moots, who served as the Officials' Representative on the League's Executive Committee in 2015–2016, arguing Moots defamed her. (R. p. 19). On February 16, 2016, Appellant forwarded the February 5th email from Williams to Moots and stated, "You are listed as the Officials Representative [sic] please advise on this matter." (Supp. R. p. 97). Following Appellant's initial communication with Moots, several more emails were exchanged between the two. (Supp. R. pp. 97, 83–87). Moots also forwarded his initial email response from February 22, 2016, to Williams. (R. p. 7).

To the extent Appellant contends Moots committed actionable defamation by forwarding the February 22nd email to Williams, her argument fails as a matter of law for three reasons. First, Appellant's defamation action against the League for Moots's communications is barred by her self-publication of the objectionable material. See Murray v. Holnam, Inc., 344 S.C. 129, 145, 542 S.E.2d 743, 751 (Ct. App. 2001) ("Self-publication of the allegedly defamatory statement may bar a plaintiff from recovery."). Second, Moots was not acting on behalf of the League's Executive Committee when he sent the email. See Boling v. Clinton Cotton Mills, 163 S.C. 13, 31, 161 S.E. 195, 202 (1931) (stating a plaintiff must demonstrate "that the alleged defamation was within the actual scope of the agent's authority" to impute defamation to the principal). Instead, Moots was acting as a representative of the South Carolina Officials' Association in response to Appellant seeking him out for advice. Third, although Appellant did not like the response she received from Moots, the statements in his emails did not defame Appellant in any way. See Erickson v. Jones St. Publishers, LLC, 368 S.C. 444, 471, 629 S.E.2d 653, 667 (2006) (holding that "[t]he law of defamation does not prevent a person from expressing and publishing truthful or non-defamatory statements—including pointed criticisms—of a [plaintiff's] actions in a particular case, regardless of whether the [plaintiff] is designated a public official, public figure, or private figure").

Based upon the foregoing, the Court should affirm the circuit court's grant of summary judgment in favor of the League as to Appellant's defamation claim because Appellant failed to put forth any evidence that the League made or published defamatory statements about her. See Swinton Creek Nursery, 334 S.C. at 484, 514 S.E.2d at 133 (requiring a plaintiff to prove the defendant communicated to others a false message about the plaintiff).

B. The Communications Regarding Appellant Were True.

Next, Appellant's defamation claim fails because the statements in the objectionable communication were true.

To prevail on her defamation claim, Appellant was required to demonstrate the alleged defamatory statement was false. Holtzscheiter, 332 S.C. at 519, 506 S.E.2d at 506 (Toal, J., concurring). "Truth of the matter published is, of course, a complete defense to an action based on defamation." Ross v. Columbia Newspapers, Inc., 266 S.C. 75, 80, 221 S.E.2d 770, 772 (1976). Indeed, our appellate courts "have held that a sufficient defense is made out whe[n] the evidence establishes that the statement was substantially true." Id.

In this case, Appellant contends the following statements included in Williams' February 5th email were defamatory: (1) Appellant was marked off/blocked by two schools and ten officials, (2) all officials who blocked Appellant were rated higher than her, and (3) Appellant technically had not attended all required District One meetings. Because each of these statements was true, or substantially true, Appellant's defamation claim fails as a matter of law.

1. The Statement About Blocks by Schools and Officials Was True.

At the outset, Appellant's defamation claim fails because Williams' statement in the February 5th email about the blocks that schools and officials entered against her was true.

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